# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGING 39PM EDT Transaction ID 69769455

DARRELL WINGETT and CAROL WINGETT,

Petitioners/Plaintiffs Below,

V.

KISHORE K. CHALLA, M.D.,

Respondent/Defendant Below.

## **BRIEF OF PETITIONERS**

Counsel for Petitioners:

Andrew D. Byrd (WVSB#11068) WARNER LAW OFFICES, PLLC 227 Capitol Street Charleston, West Virginia 25301 Telephone: 304-345-6789 Facsimile: 304-344-4508

abyrd@wvpersonalinjury.com

##

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Petitioners respectfully submit that the Circuit Court erred by answering its certified question as follows: "Should the jury be allowed to consider the fault of a party who was originally named as a defendant but voluntarily dismissed by the plaintiff pursuant to either West Virginia Code § 55-7b-9, West Virginia Code § 55-7-13c, and/or West Virginia Code § 55-7-13d under the specific facts set forth the instant case? The Court answers this question: Yes."

The Petitioners submit the following specific points of error that arise from the Circuit Court's answer to its certified question:

- A. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN ANSWERING ITS CERTIFIED QUESTION IN THE AFFIRMATIVE AS THE CLEAR AND UNAMBIGUOUS LANGUAGE OF THE WEST VIRGINIA MEDICAL PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY ACT DOES NOT PERMIT THE JURY TO CONSIDER THE FAULT OF THE DISMISSED DEFENDANTS IN THE UNDERLYING MATTER.
- B. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN ANSWERING ITS CERTIFIED QUESTION IN THE AFFIRMATIVE AS THE MODIFIED COMPARATIVE FAULT STATUTE AND RELATED SECTIONS DO NOT APPLY TO THE UNDERLYING MATTER AS IT IS GOVERNED BY THE MPLA.
- C. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN ANSWERING ITS CERTIFIED QUESTION IN THE AFFIRMATIVE AS THE RESPONDENT FAILED TO PROVE A CASE AGAINST THE DISMISSED DEFENDANTS IN THE UNDERLYING MATTER.
- D. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN ANSWERING ITS CERTIFIED QUESTION IN THE AFFIRMATIVE AS THE CLEAR AND UNAMBIGUOUS LANGUAGE OF THE WEST VIRGINIA MEDICAL PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY ACT DOES NOT PERMIT EVIDENCE OF FAULT OF THE DISMISSED DEFENDANTS IN THE UNDERLYING MATTER WHEN THE ONLY EVIDENCE OF FAULT ELICITED WAS FROM A SCREENING CERTIFICATE OF MERIT SUBMTITED PRE-SUIT.
- E. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN ANSWERING ITS CERTIFIED QUESTION IN THE AFFIRMATIVE AS PUBLIC POLICY DICTATES THAT THE FAULT OF THE DISMISSED DEFENDANTS IN THE UNDERLYING MATTER CANNOT BE CONSIDERED BY THE JURY.

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from the June 30, 2022, Certified Question Order entered by the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, West Virginia in Civil Action No. 19-C-479. (See generally Wingett Appx. - Vol. I: 235-243). The underlying medical malpractice action of the Petitioners, Darrell and Carol Wingett (hereinafter "Petitioners"), was originally filed on or about May 10, 2019, against Respondent Kishore K. Challa, M.D. (hereinafter sometimes referred to as "Respondent" or "Respondent Challa"), South Charleston Cardiology Associates, PLLC (hereinafter "SCCA"), M. Salim Ratnani, M.D. (hereinafter "Dr. Ratnani") and Professional Cardiothoracic Surgery, PLLC (hereinafter "PCS"). (See Wingett Appx. – Vol. I: 1) (See also Wingett Appx. – Vol. I: 4). Prior to the filing of their civil action, Petitioners sent, by certified mail, the aforementioned defendants a Notice of Claim and Screening Certificate of Merit to comply with the prerequisite requirements of the West Virginia Medical Professional Liability Act (hereinafter "MPLA").

In their Complaint, Petitioners alleged that in May 2014, Darrell Wingett (hereinafter sometimes referred to as "Petitioner Darrell Wingett" or "Mr. Wingett") presented to Thomas Memorial Hospital with complaints of dizziness. Subsequent to Mr. Wingett's admission to Thomas Memorial Hospital, he was evaluated by Respondent Challa. Following his evaluation of Mr. Wingett, Respondent Challa recommended that Mr. Wingett have a permanent pacemaker implanted. Upon the recommendation of Respondent Challa, underlying defendant Dr. Ratnani

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Petitioners note for this Honorable Court that the claims of Carol Wingett were dismissed on October 20, 2021, and Mrs. Wingett was removed from the style of the case for the underlying civil action. (*See* Wingett Appx. - Vol. I: 197-98).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Petitioners further note for this Honorable Court that the claims of the Petitioners against SCCA were also dismissed on October 20, 2021, and SCCA was removed from the style of the case for the underlying civil action. (See Wingett Appx. - Vol. I: 197-98).

was consulted. Mr. Wingett was evaluated by Dr. Ratnani, who implanted the permanent pacemaker in Mr. Wingett. (See Wingett Appx. - Vol. I: 6).

On May 12, 2017, nearly three (3) years following the implantation of his permanent pacemaker, Mr. Wingett presented to Charleston Area Medical Center with complaints of fever, chills and swelling at the site of his pacemaker. Mr. Wingett had developed a Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus ("MRSA") infection and his pacemaker was infected. It was determined that Mr. Wingett would benefit from an extraction of his dual chamber pacemaker system. On May 19, 2017, Mr. Wingett's pacemaker was extracted. Prior to his discharge, Petitioners alleged Mr. Wingett was advised that his pacemaker was not being utilized. (See Wingett Appx. – Vol. I; 6).

As a result, Petitioners asserted in their Complaint that Mr. Wingett's pacemaker was unnecessary in the first place. Specifically, Petitioners alleged that Respondent Challa deviated from the applicable standard of care by failing to accurately assess Mr. Wingett's symptoms as presented in May 2014 for permanent pacemaker implantation and by recommending implantation of a permanent pacemaker in May 2014 when it was not indicated and Mr. Wingett did not qualify for it. (See Wingett Appx. – Vol. I: 7). Petitioners further alleged that Dr. Ratnani deviated from the applicable standard of care by failing to accurately assess Mr. Wingett's symptoms as presented in May 2014 for permanent pacemaker implantation and by implanting a permanent pacemaker in May 2014 when it was not indicated and Mr. Wingett did not qualify for it. (See Wingett Appx. – Vol. I: 9-11). Petitioners also alleged that both of the aforesaid physicians' respective medical groups (i.e., SCCA and PCS) were vicariously liable for their alleged breaches of the standard of care. (See Wingett Appx. – Vol. I: 8-9 and 11-12).

On or about June 11, 2019, Respondent Challa and his respective medical group, SCCA, filed their Answer to the Complaint. (See generally Wingett Appx. – Vol. I: 14-25). On November

12, 2019, Petitioners filed their Notice of Dismissal, without prejudice, of Defendants M. Salim Ratnani, M.D. and Professional Cardiothoracic Surgery, PLLC pursuant to Rule 41(a)(1) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. In their Notice of Dismissal, Petitioners asserted that they attempted to serve Dr. Ratnani without success. Petitioners further asserted that, upon information and belief, Dr. Ratnani no longer resided in West Virginia or the United States, but resided in Pakistan, which is not a member of the Hague Conference. As such, he could not be served with process. Petitioners also asserted that Dr. Ratnani's medical practice, PCS's license to do business in West Virginia was revoked on November 1, 2016. Moreover, Petitioners asserted that Dr. Ratnani and PCS were not necessary parties at the time of the filing of their Notice of Dismissal. (See Wingett Appx. – Vol. I: 30-31).

Respondent Challa and his respective medical practice, SCCA, filed *Defendants' Notice of Non-Party Fault* pursuant to West Virginia Code § 55-7-13d. In the *Notice of Non-Party Fault*, Respondent Challa alleged that the damages suffered by the Petitioners may have been caused in whole or in part by non-parties M. Salim Ratnani, M.D. and Professional Cardiothoracic Surgery, PLLC. The *Notice of Non-Party Fault* filed by Respondent Challa goes on to state the following:

Defendants assert that this action is governed by the Medical Professional Liability Act (MPLA) which expressly provides "[t]he trier of fact shall, in assessing percentages of fault, consider the fault of all alleged parties, including the fault of any person who has settled a claim with the plaintiff arising out of the same medical injury." W.Va. Code § 55-7B-9(b). The MPLA does not contain a notice requirement like West Virginia Code § 55-7-13d(a)(2); however, section § 55-7-13d(a)(2) does not contain language limiting its application to actions brought under the MPLA. In an abundance of caution, therefore, the Defendants, without waiving their position that this action is governed by the MPLA and not subject to section § 55-7-13d(a)(2), provide notice of non-party fault.

(See Wingett Appx. - Vol. I: 26-29).

During the course of discovery, depositions of the parties' retained experts were taken in the underlying matter. At the deposition of the Petitioners' expert witness, Scott J. Denardo, M.D., Respondent Challa attempted, multiple times, to elicit opinions from Dr. Denardo against Dr. Ratnani based solely on Dr. Denardo's original Screening Certificate of Merit issued pre-suit. One of those exchanges during the deposition is as follows:

- Q: [...] I am trying to explore what, if any, opinions you continue to hold as it relates to Dr. Ratnani who was initially named and also referenced in your affidavit in your certificate of merit, and was subsequently dismissed because they can't get ahold of him. But what I want to know is from the medicine is whether you're still critical of Dr. Ratnani. [...]
- A: So if Dr. Ratnani is a cardiothoracic surgeon, then, yes, I stand by the original certificate.

(See Wingett Appx. - Vol. I: 195-96).

Petitioners' expert disclosure filed in the underlying matter, which contained the expert report of Dr. Denardo, was devoid of any opinions against dismissed defendants Dr. Ratnani and PCS. (See generally Wingett Appx. – Vol. I: 32-43). A cursory review of Respondent Challa's expert disclosure shows that it also was devoid of any opinions against Dr. Ratnani and PCS. (See Wingett Appx. – Vol. I: 59-64).

During the deposition of Respondent Challa's retained expert, George H. Crossley, III, M.D., it became readily apparent that the Respondent did not retain an expert to offer opinions as to whether the actions and/or inactions of Dr. Ratnani and PCS were deviations in the standard of care and were a proximate cause of the damages suffered by the Petitioners. Respondent Challa's expert, Dr. Crossley, testified to the following at his deposition in this regard:

- Q: Dr. Crossley, as stated here in your Expert Disclosure, you are going to offer **no** opinions against Dr. Ratnani; correct?
- A: That's correct.

(See Wingett Appx. - Vol. I: 124-25)(emphasis added).

Prior to the initial Pre-Trial Conference set in the underlying matter, Petitioners filed Plaintiffs' Motions in Limine, which contained Plaintiffs' Motion in Limine to Preclude Defendants Kishore K. Challa, M.D. and South Charleston Cardiology Associates, PLLC from any Admission of Evidence, Testimony or Argument of Non-Party Fault. In their Motion in Limine, Petitioners' argued that Respondent Challa had not proven a case of medical malpractice against dismissed defendants Dr. Ratnani and PCS. Respondent Challa did not file a notice of claim, certificate of merit, or a third-party complaint against Dr. Ratnani and PCS, and did not retain an expert to offer opinions against them. Petitioners further noted that any attempt by Respondent Challa to rely on any testimony elicited from the Screening Certificate of Merit issued by the Petitioners pre-suit against Dr. Ratnani and PCS was prohibited by W.Va. Code § 55-7B-6(j). (See generally Wingett Appx. – Vol. I: 93-98).

Petitioners also argued that the statutory language of the MPLA related to assessing percentages of fault found in W.Va. Code § 55-7B-9 referenced in Respondent Challa's *Notice of Non-Party Fault* did not apply as dismissed defendants Dr. Ratnani and PCS were no longer defendants or parties in the civil action and did not settle with the Petitioners. (*See generally* Wingett Appx. – Vol. I: 93-98).

Furthermore, Petitioners argued in their *Motion in Limine* that Respondent Challa is not permitted to rely on the non-party fault provisions contained West Virginia Code § 55-7-13c and/or West Virginia Code § 55-7-13d as the language of the statute specifically excludes the application of its statutory scheme to cases that fall under the MPLA, and that another Circuit Court reached the same conclusion. (*See generally* Wingett Appx. – Vol. I: 93-98) and (*See also* Wingett Appx. – Vol. I: 126-31). Based upon these arguments, Petitioners contemporaneously filed a *Motion to* 

Change the Style of Case to officially remove dismissed defendants Dr. Ratnani and PCS from the case caption prior to trial. (See Wingett Appx. – Vol. I: 98).

Respondent Challa responded to Petitioners' Motion in Limine to Preclude Defendants Kishore K. Challa, M.D. and South Charleston Cardiology Associates, PLLC from any Admission of Evidence, Testimony or Argument of Non-Party Fault by arguing that Dr. Ratnani and PCS are "alleged parties" within the meaning of W.Va. Code § 55-7B-9 of the MPLA and should be considered by the trier of fact in determining allocation of fault. (See generally Wingett Appx. – Vol. I: 134-41). Respondent Challa further argued that while he will not argue that Dr. Ratnani and PCS violated the standard of care with respect to their treatment of Mr. Wingett at trial, there was sufficient evidence and expert testimony for the jury to consider their fault pursuant to the MPLA. Respondent Challa based this argument on the fact that Petitioners served a Notice of Claim with a Screening Certificate of Merit against Dr. Ratnani and PCS, filed a Complaint naming Dr. Ratnani and PCS and certain testimony elicited from Petitioners' retained expert, Scott J. Denardo, M.D. (See generally Wingett Appx. – Vol. I: 134-41). For these reasons, Respondent Challa argued against removing Dr. Ratnani and PCS from the case caption prior to trial. (See generally Wingett Appx. – Vol. I: 134-41).

Prior to the scheduled Pre-Trial Conference, the Petitioners and Respondent Challa met and conferred and reached certain agreements and/or conclusions regarding the motions in limine filed by the parties. The Petitioners and Respondent Challa advised the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, West Virginia, pursuant to an Agreed Order Regarding Motions in Limine, that Court intervention would be required on Plaintiffs' Motion in Limine to Preclude Defendants Kishore K. Challa, M.D. and South Charleston Cardiology Associates, PLLC from any Admission of

Evidence, Testimony or Argument of Non-Party Fault and Plaintiffs' Motion to Change Style of Case. (See Wingett Appx. – Vol. I: 199-200)(See also Wingett Appx. – Vol. I: 213, 217).

On June 1, 2022, a Pre-Trial Conference was held in the underlying matter. During the hearing, the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, West Virginia considered *Plaintiffs' Motions in Limine*, which contained *Plaintiffs' Motion in Limine to Preclude Defendants Kishore K. Challa, M.D. and South Charleston Cardiology Associates, PLLC from any Admission of Evidence, Testimony or Argument of Non-Party Fault and Plaintiffs' Motion to Change Style of Case. The Court determined and entered an Agreed Order Regarding Pretrial Hearing* that the issue raised in these *Motions in Limine* would more appropriately be submitted to the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia as a certified question and directed the Petitioners and Respondent Challa to submit a proposed certified question to the Circuit Court. (See Wingett Appx. – Vol. I: 232-234).

In accordance with the Circuit Court's Agreed Order Regarding Pretrial Hearing, the parties submitted a proposed Certified Question Order to the Circuit Court. On June 30, 2022, the Circuit Court entered its Certified Question Order which contained findings of fact and conclusions of law. (See Wingett Appx. – Vol. I: 235-43). In addition, the Circuit Court found that the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia had reviewed a similar issue in State ex rel. Chalifoux v. Cramer, but that the issues were not directly on point to the specific facts and issues in the instant matter. As such, the Circuit Court concluded that the following question be certified to the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals and answered it as follows: "Should the jury be allowed to consider the fault of a party who was originally named as a defendant but voluntarily dismissed by the plaintiff pursuant to either West Virginia Code § 55-7b-9, West Virginia Code §

55-7-13c, and/or West Virginia Code § 55-7-13d under the specific facts set forth in the instant case? The Court answers this question: Yes." (See Wingett Appx. – Vol. I: 242).

Petitioners respectfully submit that under the specific facts in the underlying matter and the law in West Virginia, neither West Virginia Code § 55-7B-9 nor West Virginia Code § 55-7-13c and/or West Virginia Code § 55-7-13d permit the jury to consider the fault of dismissed defendants Dr. Ratnani and PCS. The Petitioners respectfully submit that the Circuit Court erred in answering the certified question contained in its Certified Question Order in the affirmative. For these and other reasons more fully set forth in the Petitioners' brief herein, the Petitioners respectfully request that this Honorable Court disagree with conclusion of the Circuit Court and answer the certified question contained in the Certified Question Order as No.

#### IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court should not have answered the certified question contained in its *Certified Question Order* in the affirmative. The specific facts of the underlying matter do not permit the jury to be allowed to consider the fault of dismissed defendants Dr. Ratnani and PCS pursuant to either West Virginia Code § 55-7B-9, West Virginia Code § 55-7-13c, and/or West Virginia Code § 55-7-13d.

The Circuit Court erred in answering its certified question in the affirmative as Dr. Ratnani and PCS are not "defendants" or "parties" and did not have any "allegations" against them for the jury to be able to consider their fault as "alleged parties" pursuant to the MPLA; specifically, West Virginia Code § 55-7B-9. Dr. Ratnani and PCS were also not parties that entered into a settlement with the Petitioners pursuant to West Virginia Code § 55-7B-9(b).

The Circuit Court also erred in answering its certified question in the affirmative as West Virginia Code § 55-7-13c specifically states that it does not apply to the MPLA. Since the several

liability and allocation of fault provisions contained in W.Va. Code § 55-7-13c are not applicable to the MPLA, the Circuit Court also erred in not recognizing that the statutory scheme on the determination of such fault contained in W.Va. Code § 55-7-13d is also not applicable to the underlying matter governed by the MPLA. W.Va. Code § 55-7-13c is the section of the modified comparative fault statute that creates several liability, which permits defendants to include non-parties on the verdict form. Moreover, W.Va. Code § 55-7-13d, in comparison to W.Va. Code § 55-7B-9 of the MPLA, shows that the two are not completely compatible and certain provisions cannot be reconciled in practical application.

In its Certified Question Order, the Circuit Court recognized that its certified question was answered in the affirmative based upon the specific facts set forth in the instant case. The Petitioners respectfully submit that the specific facts set forth in the underlying matter do not support answering the certified question in the affirmative, as the Respondent did not prove a case of medical negligence against dismissed defendants Dr. Ratnani and PCS as required under the MPLA, the modified comparative fault statute and related sections or West Virginia common law. Additionally, the Circuit Court erred in rendering a certain finding of fact in its Certified Question Order as the MPLA does not permit the type of evidence contained within the Circuit Court's finding of fact to be elicited because it was based solely on a screening certificate of merit submitted pre-suit.

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