IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

DARRELL WINGETT and CAROL WINGETT,

SCA EFiled: May 25 2023 02:56PM EDT Transaction ID 70087514

Plaintiffs Below, Petitioners,

vs.) No. 22-567

KISHORE K. CHALLA, M.D.,

Defendant Below, Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Candice M. Harlow (WVSB #12496)
Thomas J. Hurney, Jr. (WVSB #1833)
JACKSON KELLY PLLC
500 Lee Street East, Suite 1600
Post Office Box 553
Charleston, West Virginia 25322
Telephone: (304) 340-1000
Facsimile: (304) 340-1050
charlow@jacksonkelly.com
thurney@jacksonkelly.com

Counsel for Respondent, Kishore K. Challa, M.D.

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court of Kanawha County properly answered the following Certified Question in the affirmative: "Should the jury be allowed to consider the fault of a party who was originally named as a defendant but voluntarily dismissed by the plaintiff pursuant to either West Virginia Code § 55-7B-9, West Virginia Code § 55-7-13c, and/or West Virginia Code § 55-7-13d under the specific facts set forth in the instant case?"

The answer to this question is "yes." Section 55-7B-9(b) unambiguously states the trier of fact "shall" consider the fault of all "alleged parties" in assessing percentages of fault. The term "alleged parties" plainly means, and was intended to apply to, parties outside the litigation at the time of verdict. The term necessarily includes dismissed parties, like Dr. Ratnani and PCS, because they were actual parties in the action who Petitioners and their expert claimed were negligent. This was confirmed during the deposition of Petitioners' expert witness, whose testimony established the necessary elements of proof required by West Virginia Code § 55-7B-3 for the jury to consider any fault of those dismissed parties.

This question was also appropriately answered "yes" under West Virginia Code § 55-7-13d (the "Nonparty Fault Statute") because that section permits the trier of fact to consider the fault of all parties and nonparties who contributed to the alleged damages, with no exception for medical

professional liability cases. The exemption for medical professional liability cases set forth in West Virginia Code § 55-7-13c (the "Modified Comparative Fault Statute") expressly applies only to "this section"—13c—and not to section 13d.

As more fully explained below, the trier of fact should be allowed to consider the fault of Dr. Ratnani and PCS, who were originally named as defendants to this lawsuit but subsequently dismissed without prejudice. The Circuit Court of Kanawha County's answer to the above Certified Question should be upheld and affirmed.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The Court's February 27, 2023 Order schedules this matter for oral argument under Rule 20 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure during the September 2023 Term of Court. Respondent agrees that this is a suitable case for Rule 20 oral argument, as it involves issues of first impression and inconsistencies or conflicts among the decisions of lower tribunals, and further asserts that the decisional process would be significantly aided by oral argument.⁶

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"The appellate standard of review of questions of law answered and certified by a circuit court is *de novo*." "Where the issue . . . is clearly a question of law or involving an interpretation of a statute, we apply a *de novo* standard of review."

⁶ See W. Va. R. App. P. 20(a); W. Va. R. App. P. 18(a).

⁷ Syl. Pt. 1, Gallapoo v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 475 S.E.2d 172 (W. Va. 1996).

⁸ *Phillips v. Larry's Drive-In Pharmacy, Inc.*, 647 S.E.2d 920, 924 (W. Va. 2007) (citing Syl. Pt. 1, *Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L.*, 459 S.E.2d 415 (W. Va. 1995)).

ARGUMENT

- I. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN ANSWERING THE CERTIFIED QUESTION IN THE AFFIRMATIVE BECAUSE THE JURY IS ENTITLED TO CONSIDER THE FAULT OF DISMISSED PARTIES PURSUANT TO BOTH THE MEDICAL PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY ACT AND THE NONPARTY FAULT STATUTE.
 - A. The Fault of Dismissed Parties "Shall" be Considered under West Virginia Code § 55-7B-9 of the Medical Professional Liability Act because they are "Alleged Parties."

This action is governed by Section 55-7B-9 of the West Virginia Medical Professional Liability Act ("MPLA"), which provides "[t]he trier of fact shall, in assessing percentages of fault, consider the fault of all alleged parties, including the fault of any person who has settled a claim with the plaintiff arising out of the same medical injury." Dr. Ratnani and PCS were "alleged parties." Thus, Petitioners' voluntary dismissal of Dr. Ratnani and PCS, without prejudice, should not preclude the trier of fact from considering their alleged fault, if any. This is demonstrated by the plain language and legislative history of Section 55-7B-9.

In deciding the meaning of a statutory provision, this Court has held: "We look first to the statute's language. If the text, given its plain meaning, answers the interpretive question, the language must prevail and further inquiry is foreclosed." "Where the language of a statute is free

⁹ W. Va. Code §§ 55-7B-1, et seq.

¹⁰ W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9(b) (emphasis added). And "[i]t is well established that the word 'shall,' in the absence of language in the statute showing a contrary intent on the part of the Legislature, should be afforded a mandatory connotation." Syl. Pt. 4, *City of Wheeling v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of W. Va.*, No. 21-1001, __ S.E.2d ___, 2023 WL 3051738 (W. Va. Apr. 24, 2023) (citing Syl. Pt. 1, *Nelson v. W. Va. Pub. Emps. Serv. Bd.*, 300 S.E.2d 86 (W. Va. 1982)).

¹¹ Petitioners twice point out their assertions in the Notice of Dismissal that Dr. Ratnani and PCS were "not necessary parties" to the action. Pet'rs' Br. at 7, 15 [citing J.A. 000030-31]. This is a red herring. Nothing in West Virginia Codes § 55-7B-9 or § 55-7-13d (or § 55-7-13c) preclude a trier of fact from considering the fault of a nonparty because they were "not necessary parties." Additionally, per Petitioners' assertions, neither Dr. Ratnani nor PCS were subject to service of process.

 $^{^{12}\,}Appalachian\,Power\,Co.\,v.$ State Tax Dep't, 466 S.E.2d 424, 438 (W. Va. 1995).

from ambiguity, its plain meaning is to be accepted and applied without resort to interpretation."¹³ Similarly, "[a] statutory provision which is clear and unambiguous and plainly expresses the legislative intent will not be interpreted by the courts but will be given full force and effect."¹⁴ A court may consider the statute's legislative history in determining legislative intent.¹⁵

But, "[i]n the absence of any definition of the intended meaning of words or terms used in a legislative enactment, they will, in the interpretation of the act, be given their common, ordinary and accepted meaning in the connection in which they are used." This Court recently reiterated the importance of applying the plain meaning to statutory language in *City of Wheeling v. Public Service Commission of West Virginia*, where it once again held that "[g]enerally the words of a statute are to be given their ordinary and familiar significance and meaning, and regard is to be had for their general and proper use." Likewise, '[i]n the absence of any specific indication to the contrary, words used in a statute will be given their common, ordinary and accepted meaning." ¹⁸

Here, the term "alleged parties" is not defined and appears only once in the MPLA in Section 55-7B-9(b). Respondent maintains that Dr. Ratnani and PCS were "alleged parties" simply by virtue of being named in the Complaint. By definition, "alleged" means "[a]sserted to be true

¹³ Syl. Pt. 2, Crockett v. Andrews, 172 S.E.2d 384, 385 (W. Va. 1970).

¹⁴ Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Epperly, 65 S.E.2d 488, 489 (W. Va. 1951).

¹⁵ See, e.g., Davis Mem'l Hosp. v. W. Va. State Tax Com'r, 671 S.E.2d 682, 689 (W. Va. 2008).

¹⁶ Syl. Pt. 4, W. Va. Consol. Pub. Ret. Bd. v. Weaver, 671 S.E.2d 673, 675 (W. Va. 2008).

¹⁷ No. 21-1001, __ S.E.2d ___, 2023 WL 3051738, *5 (W. Va. Apr. 24, 2023) (citing Syl Pt. 4, *State v. Gen. Daniel Morgan Post No. 548, Veterans of Foreign Wars*, 107 S.E.2d 353 (W. Va. 1959)).

¹⁸ *Id.* (citing Syl. Pt. 7, *Wheeling Park Comm'n v. Dattoli*, 787 S.E.2d 546 (W. Va. 2016) (quoting Syl. Pt. 1, *Tug Valley Recovery Ctr., Inc. v. Mingo Cnty. Comm'n*, 261 S.E.2d 165 (W. Va. 1979)).

as described" or "[a]ccused but not yet tried." "Party," means "[o]ne by or against whom a lawsuit is brought" or "anyone who both is directly interested in a lawsuit and has a right to control the proceedings, make a defense, or appeal from an adverse judgment." Thus, an alleged party necessarily includes any person named in a complaint, regardless of whether they remain in the case at the time of verdict. Here, Petitioners squarely alleged Dr. Ratnani and PCS were negligent (and their expert confirmed it). [J.A. 000009-12 at ¶¶ 30-41; J.A. 0000192-96.] For these reasons alone, Dr. Ratnani and PCS should be placed on the verdict form.

Significantly, in gleaning the meaning of the statute, the Legislature chose the term "alleged party"—rather than terms like "litigant," "plaintiff," or "defendant." Again, Section 55-7B-9(b) plainly states: "The trier of fact <u>shall</u>, in assessing percentages of fault, consider the fault of <u>all alleged parties</u>, including the fault of any person who has settled a claim with the plaintiff arising out of the same medical injury." This is in comparison to the preceding and subsequent portions of Section 55-7B-9, which specifically identify either "plaintiff" or "defendant."

To be sure, in 2016, this provision was amended from its previous version that stated:

In assessing percentages of fault, the trier of fact shall consider only the fault of the parties in the litigation at the time the verdict is rendered and shall not consider the fault of any other person who has settled a claim with the plaintiff arising out of the same medical injury. *Provided*, That, upon creation of the patient injury compensation fund . . . or of some other mechanism for compensating a plaintiff

¹⁹ Alleged, Black's Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019).

²⁰ Party, BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY (11th ed. 2019) (emphasis added); compare with Litigant, BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY (11th ed. 2019) (defined as "[a] party to a lawsuit; the plaintiff or defendant in a court action, whether an individual, firm, corporation, or other entity").

²¹ W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9(b) (emphasis added).

²² See generally W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9(a), (c), (d), (e) (using the terms "plaintiff," "defendant"); see also W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9(g) (using the term "health care provider"). See also State ex rel. Chalifoux v. Cramer, No. 20-0929, 2021 WL 2420196, at *7 (W. Va. June 14, 2021) (memorandum decision) (Armstead, J., dissenting) (distinguishing "plaintiff" and "defendant" from potential defendants or other nonparties) (citing Rowe v. Sisters of Pallottine Missionary Soc'y, 560 S.E.2d 491, 500 (W. Va. 2001)).

for any amount of economic damages awarded by the trier of fact which the plaintiff has been unable to collect, the trier of fact shall, in assessing percentages of fault, consider the fault of all alleged parties, including the fault of any person who has settled a claim with the plaintiff arising out of the same medical injury.²³

Striking the phrase "parties in the litigation at the time the verdict is rendered," but maintaining the "all alleged parties" language, demonstrates the Legislature intended to expand that phrase to apply to persons not necessarily "in the litigation at the time the verdict is rendered."²⁴ The prior statutory language also suggests that the term "all alleged parties" was originally intended to apply to "any person" "which the plaintiff has been <u>unable to collect.</u>"²⁵ Such a person "includ[es] . . . any person who has settled a claim with the plaintiff arising out of the same medical injury."²⁶ When read in conjunction with its legislative history, the phrase "all alleged parties," therefore, includes "any person"—not just "defendant"—who settled a claim with the plaintiff or any other person from whom the plaintiff might otherwise not be able "to collect" for claims "arising out of the same medical injury."²⁷ Dr. Ratnani and PCS were alleged parties from whom Petitioners would have been "unable to collect" for the allegations asserted in the Complaint (for the same medical injury) due to Petitioners' assertions that they could not be served with the Complaint. [J.A. 000030.]

The fact that the Legislature did not intend for the phrase "all alleged parties" to apply only to persons who settled claims with the plaintiff is supported by use of the term "including." The

²³ W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9(b) (2003) (emphasis added).

²⁴ See id.

²⁵ See id. (emphasis added).

²⁶ *Id*.

²⁷ See id.

term "including" is not meant to be restrictive. Indeed, this Court has recognized that the term "includes" in a statute is intended to be a word of enlargement." ²⁸

Justice Armstead addressed the significance of the term "including" in Section 55-7B-9(b) in his dissenting opinion in *State ex rel. Chalifoux v. Cramer*:

It is evident that the Legislature did not intend for the term "all alleged parties" to consist only of parties named in the Plaintiff's complaint, otherwise it would not have added the phrase "including any person who has settled a claim with the plaintiff." Obviously, persons settling a claim with the Plaintiff may be persons who were never named in a complaint. By using the term "including the fault of any person who has settled a claim with the plaintiff" immediately following the term "all alleged parties," the Legislature could not have intended that the phrase "all alleged parties" only include parties to the litigation. Moreover, when the term "includes" is used, as in this case, it generally means "to contain as a part of something" and "typically indicates a partial list." See Postlewait v. City of Wheeling, 231 W. Va. 1, 4, 743 S.E.2d 309, 312 (2012). Accordingly, the Legislature clearly did not intend to exclude from consideration of fault those alleged parties who were not named in the litigation.²⁹

29

²⁸ Citynet, LLC v. Toney, 772 S.E.2d 36, 50 (W. Va. 2015) ("The Legislature's use of the word 'includes' . . . reveals that the list is not intended to be an exclusive list."); Postlewait v. City of Wheeling, 743 S.E.2d 309, 312 (W. Va. 2012) ("by using the word 'includes' . . . this Court was setting forth only a partial list"); Shepherdstown Observer, Inc. v. Maghan, 700 S.E.2d 805, 811 (W. Va. 2010) ("It is obvious that the Legislature . . . meant for the word 'includes' to be given its common, ordinary and accepted meaning, which is that of a word of enlargement."); Davis Mem'l Hosp., 671 S.E.2d at 689 ("The term 'includes' in a statute is to be dealt with as a word of enlargement.") (citation omitted); State v. Zain, 528 S.E.2d 748, 754 n.3 (W. Va. 1999) ("the term 'include,' . . . is a term of enlargement rather than a term of limitation"); State Human Rights Comm'n v. Pauley, 212 S.E.2d 77, 80 (W. Va. 1975) (further stating "this is especially so," but not only so, "where . . . such word is followed by 'but not limited to'").

This Court has also cited Black's Law Dictionary, which defines the term "include" as "to contain as a part of something" and "typically indicates a partial list." *See, e.g., W. Va. Consol. Pub. Ret. Bd. v. Clark*, 859 S.E.2d 453, n.40 (W. Va. 2021); *Texas E. Transmission, LP v. W. Va. Dep't of Env't Prot., Div. of Mining & Reclamation*, 807 S.E.2d 802, 814 (W. Va. 2017); *Postlewait*, 743 S.E.2d at 312. Black's Law Dictionary further explains that "some drafters use phrases such as *including without limitation* and *including but not limited to*—which mean the same thing." *Include*, BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY (11th ed. 2019) (emphasis in original).

²⁹ No. 20-0929, 2021 WL 2420196, at *10 (W. Va. June 14, 2021) (memorandum decision) (Armstead, J., dissenting) (emphasis in original).

To therefore conclude that "alleged party" means nothing more than a "defendant" or "settling person" would ignore the carefully chosen language and legislative history of West Virginia Code § 55-7B-9(b).

The plain meaning of "all alleged parties" in Section 55-7B-9(b) includes parties both named and unnamed in the litigation. At the very least, however, "all alleged parties" certainly includes a party who was at any point a named litigant, whether or not they remain as such at the time a verdict is rendered. Here, Dr. Ratnani and PCS are the precise "alleged parties" the Legislature intended that section to cover.³⁰ Thus, the Circuit Court of Kanawha County was correct in finding that the trier of fact "shall" consider the fault, if any, of dismissed parties such as Dr. Ratnani and PCS.

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